
WSANTIAG
Rounded Exhibit Stamp







James Chow, Director 

Enforcement and Compliance Assurance Division 
U.S. EPA Region 1 

 

In the Matter of Veolia Water North America-Northeast, LLC at the Lynn Water Treatment Facility 

Expedited Settlement Agreement 
Docket No. CAA-01-2025-0059 Page 5 



FINAL ORDER 

Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 22.18(b)-(c) of the EPA’s Consolidated Rules of Practice and Section 113 
of the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7413, the foregoing Expedited Settlement Agreement resolving 
In the Matter of Veolia Water North America-LLC, Docket Number CAA-01-2025-0059, is 
incorporated by reference into this Final Order and is hereby ratified. Respondent is ordered to 
pay the civil penalty amount specified in the Expedited Settlement Agreement. The terms of the 
Expedited Settlement Agreement will become effective on the date it is filed with the Regional 
Hearing Clerk. 
 
It is so ORDERED.  
 
 
__________________________    Date: _________________ 
Michael J. Knapp   
Regional Judicial Officer 
United States Environmental Protection Agency 
Region 1 
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RMP Program Level 3 Process Checklist 
This RMP Program Level 3 Process Checklist is based on penalty amounts supplied by Headquarters in 2011.  

Regulations added in the updated 2021 version do not yet have corresponding penalty amounts and are indicated by asterisks. 

General Facility Information 

Facility Name: 
Lynn Water Treatment Plant – Operated by Veolia Water North America-Northeast, LLC at the time of 
EPA’s inspection 
 

Mailing Address 
(Street, City, State, Zip): 

Lynn Water Treatment Plant 
390 Parkland Avenue 
Lynn, Massachusetts 01905    
 
Veolia Water North America-Northeast, LLC 
53 State Street 
14th Floor 
Boston, Massachusetts 02109 
 

Physical Address 
(Street, City, State, Zip): 

Lynn Water Treatment Plant 
390 Parkland Avenue 
Lynn, Massachusetts 01905    
 
Veolia 
53 State Street 
14th Floor 
Boston, Massachusetts 02109 

Latitude / Longitude: 
(Source) 

Latitude (decimal): 42.476944 
Longitude (decimal): -070.973056 
Interpolation - Digital map source (TIGER) 

RMP Number / FRS Number: 1000 0013 3045 

Facility Contact (Name, Title, 
Phone#, email address): 

Seth Gabriel Project Manager, Veolia 781-595-5200 Seth.gabriel@veolia.com 
Richard Kellet Maintenance Manager, Veolia 781-595-5200 None provided 
Daniel Gorke Area Manager, Veolia 401-265-1085 Daniel.gorke@veolia.com 
 

Reported NAICS Code(s): 221310 (Water Supply and Irrigation Systems) 

Inspection Information 

Inspection Start Date: 3/24/2022 Inspection End Date: 3/24/22 Select End Date 

Lead Inspector 

Name Organization Phone No / Email 

Drew Meyer 
    USEPA-ECAD 

6179181755 

meyer.drew@epa.gov 
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Participating Inspectors 

Leonard B. Wallace IV, EPA 
Tyler Diercks, EPA Region 1  
Carlos Colombani, EPA       
Region 2 
Amy Federoff, ERG 
Marissa Maier, ERG 
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Subpart D - Program 3 Prevention Program [68.65-68.87] 

Prevention Program: Operating Procedures [68.69] 

1. Has the owner or operator developed and implemented written operating procedures that provide instructions or 
steps for conducting activities associated with each covered process consistent with the safety information? 
[68.69(a)] 

 
 Forty C.F.R. § 68.69(a)(1)(iv), requires owners and operators of Program 3 processes to identify steps for 

emergency shutdown, including conditions under which emergency shutdown is required and the assignment of 
shutdown responsibility to qualified operators. Several of Respondent’s operating procedures, specifically the 
procedures that relate to the RMP chlorine process, should have included precautions and descriptions on how to 
initiate an emergency shutdown of relevant chlorine processes. 

 
. Additionally, 40 C.F.R. § 68.69(a)(2)(i) requires written operating procedures (“SOPs”) to provide clear instructions 

for safely conducting activities involved in each covered process consistent with the process safety information and 
shall address the consequences for a deviation in the operating procedure.  

 
        Respondent’s SOPs fail to address the consequences in the event that there is a deviation in the operating procedure. 

For example, the SOP for Chlorine Cylinder Connections directs the employee performing the procedure to visually 
inspect several lines and monitors for obvious problems such as breakage lines that have become disconnected, but 
the SOP provides no information for the proceeding steps in the event that there is a deviation and no information 
regarding the consequences of a deviation. 

 

N/A 

2. Do the procedures address the following: [68.69(a)] 

 Steps for each operating phase: [68.69(a)(1)] 

  ☐ Initial Startup? [68.69(a)(1)(i)] 

  ☐ Normal operations? [68.69(a)(1)(ii)] 

  ☐ Temporary operations? [68.69((a)(1)(iii)] 

  ☒ Emergency shutdown including the conditions under which emergency shutdown is required, and the 
assignment of shutdown responsibility to qualified operators to ensure that emergency shutdown is 
executed in a safe and timely manner? [68.69(a)(1)(iv)] 

  ☐ Emergency operations? [68.69(a)(1)(v)] 

  ☐ Normal shutdown?  [68.68(a)(1)(vi)] 

  ☐ Startup following a turnaround, or after emergency shutdown? [68.69(a)(1)(vii)] 

 Operating limits: [68.69(a)(2)] 

  ☒ Consequences of deviations [68.69(a)(2)(i)] 

  ☐ Steps required to correct or avoid deviation? [68.69(a)(2)(ii)] 

 Safety and health considerations: [68.69(a)(3)] 

  ☐ Properties of, and physical hazards presented by, the chemicals used in the process [68.69(a)(3)(i)] 

  ☐ Precautions necessary to prevent exposure, including engineering controls, administrative controls, and 
personal protective equipment? [68.69(a)(3)(ii)] 

  ☐ Control measures to be taken if physical contact or airborne exposure occurs? [68.69(a)(3)(iii)] 

  ☐ Quality control for raw materials and control of hazardous chemical inventory levels? [68.69(a)(3)(iv)] 

  ☐ Any special or unique hazards? [68.69(a)(3)(v)] 

 ☐ Safety systems and their functions? [68.69(a)(4)]   

 

 

 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

1,200 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

 

1,200 

N/A 

 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

 

N/A 

3. Are operating procedures readily accessible to employees who are involved in a process? [68.69(b)] N/A 
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4. Has the owner or operator certified annually that the operating procedures are current and accurate and that 
procedures have been reviewed as often as necessary to assure that they reflect current operating practice, including 
changes that result from changes in process chemicals, technology, and equipment, and changes to stationary 
sources? [68.69(c)] 

N/A 

5. Has the owner or operator developed and implemented safe work practices to provide for the control of hazards 
during specific operations, such as lockout/tagout; confined space entry; opening process equipment or piping; and 
control over entrance into a stationary source by maintenance, contractor, laboratory, or other support personnel? 
[68.69(d)] 

N/A 

Prevention Program: Management of Change [68.75] 

6. Has the owner or operator established and implemented written procedures to manage changes to process chemicals, 
technology, equipment, and procedures, and changes to stationary sources that affect a covered process? [68.75(a)] 

 
       In accordance with § 68.75(b), the management of change procedures must assure that, PRIOR to any change, the 

procedures address: the technical basis for the proposed change; impact of change on safety and health; 
modifications to operating procedures; necessary time period for the change; and authorization requirements for the 
proposed change. Lynn Water and Veolia established written procedures to manage changes in the Facility’s RMP 
program.  

 
        Veolia did not update the management of change documents prior to changing process equipment on both 

September 20, 2020, and August 19, 2020, as the management of change reviews for both changes did not occur 
until July 16, 2021. Specifically, on September 20, 2020, three regal valves associated with the process at the 
Facility were replaced, which included the re-piping within the room for improved operation, maintenance, and ease 
of operation. The management of change review documents are dated July 16, 2021, after the change.  

       Additionally, on August 19, 2020, a second chlorine dioxide generation unit associated with the process at the 
Facility was added and piping modifications were made. The management of change review documents are also 
dated July 16, 2021, after the change. Other MOC forms also seem to have been completed after the changes to the 
process occurred, including MOC 2021-004 (replacement of chlorine ejection device). 

 
        Further, employees were not trained on the maintenance procedures associated with the change until July 16, 2021. 

Forty C.F.R. § 68.75(c) requires that employees involved in operating a process and maintenance whose job tasks 
will be affected by a change in the process shall be trained in the change prior to the start-up of the process or the 
affected part of the process.  

 
        Veolia violated the management of change procedures by making changes to equipment without first considering 

and documenting the technical bases for the changes and impacts of the changes on the safety and health in 
accordance with the written procedures to manage changes and 40 C.F.R. § 68.75(b). Also, Lynn Water and Veolia 
failed to document on its MOC form for the September 20, 2020, change the date when employees were trained in 
maintaining the process, in violation of its written procedures and 40 C.F.R. § 68.75(c), and the date when process 
safety was updated, in violation of its written procedures and 40 C.F.R. § 68.75(d). Employees were not trained on 
the maintenance procedures associated with the August 19, 2020, change until July 16, 2021, after the change.  

N/A 

7. Do procedures assure that the following considerations are addressed prior to any change: [68.75(b)].  NO-Not 
Prior to the changes being made 

 

 ☒ The technical basis for the proposed change? [68.75(b)(1)] 

 ☒ Impact of change on safety and health? [68.75(b)(2)] 

 ☒ Modifications to operating procedures? [68.75(b)(3)] 

 ☒ Necessary time period for the change? [68.75(b)(4)] 

 ☒ Authorization requirements for the proposed change? [68.75(b)(5)] 

300 
300 
300 
300 
300 

8. Were employees, involved in operating a process and maintenance, and contract employees, whose job tasks would 
be affected by a change in the process, informed of, and trained in, the change prior to start-up of the process or 
affected parts of the process? [68.75(c)]  NO-Not Prior to the changes being made 

900 

9. If a change resulted in a change in the process safety information, was such information updated accordingly? 
[68.75(d)] N/A 
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10. If a change resulted in a change in the operating procedures or practices, had such procedures or practices been 
updated accordingly? [68.75(e)] N/A 

 
Expedited Settlement Penalty Matrix 

  
Governmental Entities 

(Primarily Public Drinking Water and Wastewater Systems) 
  

Total Population Served 1 – 5* > 5 – 10* > 10* (64) 

1 – 10,000 0.2 0.4 0.6 

10,001 – 100,000 0.4 0.6 0.8 

> 100,000 0.6 0.8 1.0 

  
* Largest Multiple of Threshold Quantity of any Regulated Chemical(s) on Site.  
 

Proposed Penalty Worksheet 
 

Lynn population served approximately 101,000 people 
Chlorine---32,000 lbs on-site equals 64 times the TPQ of 500 lbs—multiplier = 1 

 
  
Adjusted Penalty = $4,800 x 1 = $4,800 
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